
 

 
 

 

 

Audit and Standards Advisory 
Committee 
 

Monday 24 February 2025 at 6.00 pm 
Boardrooms 3 - 5 - Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, 
Wembley, HA9 0FJ 
 

Please note this will be held as a physical meeting which all Committee 
members will be required to attend in person. 
 

The meeting will be open for the press and public to attend or 
alternatively can be followed via the live webcast. The link to follow 
proceedings via the live webcast is available HERE 

 

Membership: 
 
Members Substitute Members 
David Ewart (Independent 
Chair) 
 

 

Councillors: Councillors: 
 

Chan (Vice-Chair) 
Choudry 
Kabir 
Long 
Molloy 
J.Patel 
L.Smith 
 

Agha, S.Butt, Chohan, Conneely, Ketan Sheth and 
T.Smith 
 
Councillors: 
 

Kansagra and Maurice 

 
Independent Co-opted Members 
Rhys Jarvis and Stephen Ross  
 

For further information contact: Harry Ellis, Governance Officer 
Tel: 07394837462; Email: harry.ellis@brent.gov.uk 

 

For electronic copies of minutes and agendas please visit: 
Council meetings and decision making | Brent Council 

 

Public Document Pack

https://brent.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
https://www.brent.gov.uk/the-council-and-democracy/council-meetings-and-decision-making


 

2 
 

Notes for Members - Declarations of Interest: 
 

If a Member is aware they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest* in an item of business, they 
must declare its existence and nature at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent and 
must leave the room without participating in discussion of the item.  
 

If a Member is aware they have a Personal Interest** in an item of business, they must declare its 
existence and nature at the start of the meeting or when it becomes apparent. 
 

If the Personal Interest is also significant enough to affect your judgement of a public interest and 
either it affects a financial position or relates to a regulatory matter then after disclosing the 
interest to the meeting the Member must leave the room without participating in discussion of the 
item, except that they may first make representations, answer questions or give evidence relating 
to the matter, provided that the public are allowed to attend the meeting for those purposes. 
 
*Disclosable Pecuniary Interests: 
(a)  Employment, etc. - Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 

profit gain. 
(b)  Sponsorship - Any payment or other financial benefit in respect of expenses in carrying 

out duties as a member, or of election; including from a trade union.  
(c)  Contracts - Any current contract for goods, services or works, between the Councillors or 

their partner (or a body in which one has a beneficial interest) and the council. 
(d)  Land - Any beneficial interest in land which is within the council’s area. 
(e) Licences- Any licence to occupy land in the council’s area for a month or longer. 
(f)  Corporate tenancies - Any tenancy between the council and a body in which the 

Councillor or their partner have a beneficial interest. 
(g)  Securities - Any beneficial interest in securities of a body which has a place of business or 

land in the council’s area, if the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body or of any one class of its issued 
share capital. 

 

**Personal Interests: 
The business relates to or affects: 
(a) Anybody of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management, and: 

 To which you are appointed by the council; 

 which exercises functions of a public nature; 

 which is directed is to charitable purposes; 

 whose principal purposes include the influence of public opinion or policy (including a 
political party of trade union). 

(b) The interests a of a person from whom you have received gifts or hospitality of at least £50 as 
a member in the municipal year;  

or 
A decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting the well-being or 
financial position of: 

 You yourself; 

 a member of your family or your friend or any person with whom you have a close 
association or any person or body who is the subject of a registrable personal interest.  

 



 

3 
 

 
Agenda 
 
Introductions, if appropriate. 
 

Item Page 
 

1 Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members  
 

 

2 Declarations of Interest  
 

 

 Members are invited to declare at this stage of the meeting, the nature 
and existence of any relevant disclosable pecuniary or personal interests 
in the items on this agenda and to specify the item(s) to which they relate. 
 

 

3 Deputations (if any)  
 

 

 To receive any deputations requested by members of the public in 
accordance with Standing Order 67.  
 

 

 Standards Items 

4 Response to Government consultation on potential changes to the 
current Standards regime  

 

1 - 26 

 The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with a report 
outlining a draft response to the current Government consultation on 
potential changes to the current Standards regime for consideration. 
 

 

 Audit & Finance Items 

5 External Audit Progress Report and Council's statement of accounts 
2023-24  

 

27 - 48 

 To receive an update on the progress in finalising the External Auditor 
Annual Report and Council’s Statement of Accounts for the year ended 
31 March 24.  
 
(Agenda republished to include this report on the 21st of February 2025) 

 

 

6 Audit & Standards Advisory Committee Work Programme 2024-15  
 

49 - 50 

 To review the Audit & Standards Advisory Committee work programme 
2024 – 25. 
 

 

7 Exclusion of the press & Public  
 

 



 

4 
 

 No items have been identified in advance of the meeting that will require 
the exclusion of the press and public. 
 

 

8 Any other urgent business  
 

 

 Notice of items to be raised under this heading must be given in writing to 
the Deputy Director Democratic Services or their representative before 
the meeting in accordance with Standing Order 60. 
 

 

 
Date of the next meeting:  Tuesday 25 March 2025 
 

 Please remember to SWITCH OFF your mobile phone during the meeting. 

 The meeting room is accessible by lift and seats will be provided for 
members of the public. Alternatively, it will be possible to follow 
proceedings via the live webcast HERE 
 

 

https://brent.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 
 

1 

 

 

 
 

Audit and Standards Advisory 
Committee 

24 February 2025 
  

Report from the Corporate Director, 
Law & Governance  

Lead Cabinet Member (N/A) 

Response to Standards Consultation 

 

Wards Affected:  All 

Key or Non-Key Decision:  Not applicable 

Open or Part/Fully Exempt: 
(If exempt, please highlight relevant paragraph 
of Part 1, Schedule 12A of 1972 Local 
Government Act) 

Open 

No. of Appendices: 

One: 
Appendix A: Draft response to the Government 

Consultation - Strengthening the 
standards and conduct framework for 
local authorities in England. 

 

Background Papers:  
 
None 
 

Contact Officer(s): 
(Name, Title, Contact Details) 

Debra Norman, Corporate Director, Law & 
Governance  
020 8937 1578 
debra.norman@brent.gov.uk  
 
Biancia Robinson, Senior Constitutional & 
Governance Lawyer  
0208 937 1544  
biancia.robinson@brent.gov.uk  
 

 
1.0 Purpose of the Report/ Executive Summary 
 
1.1  This report provides the committee with a draft response to the current 

Government consultation on potential changes to the current Standards regime 
for consideration. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4

mailto:debra.norman@brent.gov.uk
mailto:biancia.robinson@brent.gov.uk


 
 

2 

 

2.0 Recommendations 
 
2.1  That the committee consider and comment on the proposed draft response and 

note that a response will be submitted on behalf of the Authority by the 
Corporate Director of Law & Governance.  

 
3.0 Detail  
 

Contribution to Borough Plan Priorities & Strategic Context  
 

3.1. The reviewing and maintenance of high standards of member conduct supports 
the delivery of the borough plan by promoting confidence in the operation and 
good governance of the council. 

 
4.0 Background 
 
4.1 At its meeting on 4 February 2025 the committee’s attention was drawn to the 

Government consultation on potential changes to the Standards regime.  The 
details of the consultation are here: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/strengthening-the-standards-
and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england 
 

4.2 The committee agreed that a draft response by the council to the consultation 
be brought to its next meeting for its consideration.  The proposed response, 
taking into account comments provided to the Corporate Director of Law & 
Governance by members of the committee, is contained in Appendix A.   Where 
responses included “unsure”, the draft response uses the option for which a 
particular preference was expressed by one or more other responders.  Where 
there was a majority in favour of a response, that response is the one selected 
in the draft. 

 
4.3 In the case of the following questions, this approach still left uncertainty: 

 
Question 8 
Do you agree that the Independent Person and co-opted members should be 
given voting rights? 
 
Question 9 
Should standards committees be chaired by the Independent Person? 
 
Question 20 
Where it is deemed that suspension is an appropriate response to a code of 
conduct breach, should local authorities be required to nominate an alternative 
point of contact for constituents during their absence? 
 
Question 21 
If the government reintroduced the power of suspension do you think there 
should be a maximum length of suspension? 
 
Question 23 

Page 2

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/strengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/strengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england


 
 

3 

 

Should local authorities have the power to withhold allowances from suspended 
councillors in cases where they deem it appropriate? 
 
Question 36 
Do you consider that a complainant should have a right of appeal when an 
allegation of misconduct is not upheld? 
 
Question 38 
Do you think there is a need for an external national body to hear appeals? 

 
4.4 Comments have been included in the free text boxes where these were 

provided and are highlighted yellow in the attached. 
 
4.5 The committee is invited to comment on the proposed response (in particular 

the questions listed above and the highlighted comments) so any further 
comments can be taken into account before the response is submitted. 

 
4.6 The committee should note that over the last three years we have received an 

average of 5 complaints per year (2024:6, 2023:6, 2022:4). In relation to 
question 13, officers propose to insert this number on behalf of the Council. 

 
4.0 Financial Considerations  
 
4.1 There are no financial implications arising out of this report. 
 
5.0 Legal Considerations  
 
5.1 The legal implications are contained within the body of this report. 
 
6.0 Additional Considerations 
 
6.1 There are no  

a) Equity, Diversity & Inclusion (EDI) considerations 
b) Stakeholder and ward member consultation and engagement  
c) Climate Change and Environmental considerations 
d) Human Resources/Property considerations (if appropriate) 
e) Communication considerations 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Report sign off: 
 
Debra Norman 
Corporate Director, Law & Governance  
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



1. Scope of this consultation 

Topic of this consultation 

This consultation seeks views on introducing a mandatory minimum code of conduct 
for local authorities in England, and measures to strengthen the standards and 
conduct regime in England to ensure consistency of approach amongst councils 
investigating serious breaches of their member codes of conduct, including the 
introduction of the power of suspension. 

Scope of this consultation 

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) is 
consulting on introducing strengthened sanctions for local authority code of conduct 
breaches in England. 

This includes all ‘relevant authorities’ as defined by Section 27(6) of the Localism Act 
2011, which includes: 

• a county council 

• a unitary authority 

• London borough councils 

• a district council 

• the Greater London Authority 

• the London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority 

• the Common Council of the City of London in its capacity as a local 
authority or police authority 

• the Council of the Isles of Scilly 

• parish councils 

• a fire and rescue authority in England constituted by a scheme under 
section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to which 
section 4 of that Act applies, 

• a joint authority established by Part 4 of the Local Government Act 1985,an 
economic prosperity board established under section 88 of the Local 
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 

• a combined authority established under section 103 of that Act, 

• a combined county authority established under section 9(1) of the Levelling 
Up and Regeneration Act 2023 

• the Broads Authority 

Page 5



• a National Park authority in England established under section 63 of the 
Environment Act 1995 

It does not cover: 

• police and crime commissioners 

• internal drainage boards 

• any other local authority not otherwise defined as a ‘relevant authority’ 
above 

All references to ‘members’ refer to elected members, mayors, co-opted and 
appointed members of each of the ‘relevant authorities’ defined above. 

Geographical scope 

The questions in this consultation paper apply to all relevant local authorities in 
England as defined above. 

They generally do not apply to authorities in Wales, Scotland or Northern Ireland, 
except in relation to Police and Crime Panels in Wales. 

Impact assessment 

We will produce a full Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) assessment, and all 
necessary impact assessments, as the policy proposals develop further following this 
consultation. 

Basic information 

This is an open consultation. We particularly seek the views of individual members of 
the public; prospective and current elected members/representatives; all relevant 
local authorities defined above; and those bodies that represent the interests of local 
authority members/representatives at all levels. 

Body responsible for the consultation 

Page 6



The Local Government Capacity and Improvement Division of the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government is responsible for conducting this 
consultation. 

Duration 

This consultation will last for 10 weeks from 18 December 2024. This consultation 
closes at 11:59pm on 26 February 2025. 

Enquiries 

For any enquiries about the consultation please 
contact: LGstandardsreform@communities.gov.uk 

How to respond 

You can only respond to this call for evidence through our online consultation 
platform, Citizen Space. 

2. Ministerial foreword 

The government is determined to fix the foundations of local government so councils 
can sustainably provide decent public services and shape local places, and so 
elected representatives can be fully accountable to the public they serve. Doing so is 
critical to national renewal, our missions, and our plans to push power out of 
Westminster and into the hands of local people with skin in the game. 

At the core of this agenda is a plan to make local government across England fit, 
legal, and decent – so that councils have the backing from central government to 
deliver the high standards and strong financial management that they strive for, 
without needless micromanagement of day-to-day local decision-making. This plan 
includes:  

• fixing our broken audit system 

• improving oversight and accountability 

• giving councils genuine freedoms to work for, and deliver in the best 
interests of, their communities 

• improving the standards and conduct regime 

This consultation is focused on the proposed reforms to the standards and conduct 
regime that will contribute to making sure England is covered by effective local and 
strategic authorities that are well-governed, with high standards met and maintained. 

Page 7

mailto:LGstandardsreform@communities.gov.uk
https://consult.communities.gov.uk/local-government-standards-and-conduct/strengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework


It is an honour and a privilege to be elected as a member and with it comes an 
individual and collective responsibility to consistently demonstrate and promote the 
highest standards of conduct and public service.   

Members take decisions affecting critical local services such as social care, 
education, housing, planning, licensing, and waste collection. With greater 
devolution, local authorities will increasingly be taking decisions to shape local 
transport, skills, employment support, and growth. Decisions that are the 
responsibility of members impact virtually every citizen’s life at some level, and the 
electorate has a right to expect that it can trust its local elected members to uphold 
the highest ethical standards and act in the best interests of the communities they 
serve. 

I strongly believe that the vast majority of local elected members maintain high 
standards of conduct and that they are driven by duty and service. I believe that 
people stand for elected office in their local communities with the best intentions to 
act in the interests of those communities, bringing an energy and commitment to 
working collaboratively, creatively, and respectfully. 

Members, officers, reporters and members of public are entitled to support and 
participate in the local democratic process in the confidence that high standards are 
maintained. This government wants to celebrate the positive power of public service 
and, in doing so, we want to give individual authorities appropriate and proportionate 
means to deal with misconduct effectively and decisively when it does occur. We 
also want to ensure that anyone can rightly feel confident about raising an issue 
under the code of conduct whether it impacts them personally and/or is a code 
conduct breach that brings the reputation of the council into disrepute. 

With approximately 120,000 councillors in England across all types and tiers of local 
government, we know there are rare instances of misconduct.  Robust political 
debate is part of our democratic system, but we know from local councils that there 
are examples of bullying, harassment or other misconduct, when from even a very 
small minority of members can have a seriously destabilising effect, potentially 
bringing a council into disrepute and distracting from the critical business of 
delivering for residents. 

This government is committed to working with local and regional government to 
establish partnerships built on mutual respect, genuine collaboration and meaningful 
engagement. Our ambition is to create a rigorous standards and conduct framework 
that will actively contribute to ensuring that local government throughout the country 
is fit, legal, and decent.  With this in mind, this consultation seeks your views on a 
range of proposals to give local leaders the tools they need to establish and maintain 
a strong and ethical public service and democratic culture, and the people they serve 
the confidence that local democracy works for them. 

Jim McMahon OBE MP 
Minister of State for Local Government and English Devolution 

Page 8



3. Background: Standards and Conduct framework 
and sanctions arrangements 

The Localism Act 2011[footnote 1] established the current standards and conduct 
framework for local authorities. 

The current regime requires every local authority to adopt a code of conduct, the 
contents of which must as a minimum be consistent with the 7 ‘Nolan’ principles of 
standards in public life (selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, 
honesty and leadership), and set out rules on requiring members to register and 
disclose pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests. Beyond these requirements, it is for 
individual councils to set their own local code. The Local Government Association 
(LGA) published an updated model code of conduct and guidance in 2021, which 
councils can choose whether to adopt or not. 

Every authority must also have in place arrangements under which it can investigate 
allegations of breaches of its code of conduct and must consult at least one 
independent person before coming to decisions. These decisions are normally taken 
in one of two ways depending on an authority’s specific arrangements. The decision 
can be made by full council following advice from their standards committee (or 
equivalent). Alternatively, the decision can be made by the standards committee if 
they have been given the power to do so. Although a standards committee may 
contain unelected independent members and co-opted members, only principal 
councils’ elected members may vote in a decision-making standards committee. 

There is no provision in current legislation for a sanction to suspend a councillor 
found to have breached the code of conduct.  Sanctions for member code of conduct 
breaches are currently limited to less robust measures than suspension, such as 
barring members from Cabinet, Committee, or representative roles, a requirement to 
issue an apology or undergo code of conduct training, or public criticism. Local 
authorities are also unable to withhold allowances from members who commit 
serious breaches of their code of conduct, and there is no explicit provision in 
legislation for councils to impose premises bans or facilities withdrawals where they 
consider that it might be beneficial to do so. 

The government considers that the current local authority standards and conduct 
regime is in certain key aspects ineffectual, inconsistently applied, and lacking in 
adequate powers to effectively sanction members found in serious breach of their 
codes of conduct. 

4. Who we would like to hear from 

Responses are invited from local authority elected members and officers from all 
types and tiers of authorities, and local authority sector representative organisations. 
We are also particularly keen to hear from those members of the public who have 

Page 9

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/part/1/chapter/7/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/strengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england/strengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england#fn:1
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-7-principles-of-public-life
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/local-government-association-model-councillor-code-conduct-2020


point of view based on their interest in accessing local democracy in their area or 
standing as a candidate for local government at any tier to represent their local 
community at some future point. 

Please be assured that all responses to this consultation are anonymous, and no 
information will be disclosed in any future published response to the consultation, or 
reporting of the consultation results, that will compromise that anonymity.  

Question 1 

Please tick all that apply - are you responding to this consultation as: 

a) an elected member – if so please indicate which local authority type(s) you serve 
on 

• Town or Parish Council 

• District or Borough Council 

• Unitary Authority 

• County Council 

• Combined Authority / Combined County Authority 

• Fire and Rescue Authority 

• Police and Crime Panel 

• Other local authority type - please state 

b) a council officer – if so please indicate which local authority type 

• Town or Parish Council 

• District or Borough Council 

• Unitary Authority 

• County Council 

• Combined Authority / Combined County Authority 

• Fire and Rescue Authority 

• Police and Crime Panel 

• Other local authority type - please state 

c) a council body – if so please indicate which local authority type 

• Town or Parish Council 

• District or Borough Council 

• Unitary Authority 

• County Council 

• Combined Authority / Combined County Authority 

• Fire and Rescue Authority 

• Police and Crime Panel 

Page 10



• Other local authority type - please state 

d) a member of the public 

e) a local government sector body – please state 

5. Strengthening the Standards and Conduct 
framework 

a) Mandatory minimum prescribed code of conduct 

The government proposes to legislate for the introduction of a mandatory minimum 
code of conduct which would seek to ensure a higher minimum standard of 
consistency in setting out the behaviours expected of elected members. The 
government will likely set out the mandatory code in regulations to allow flexibility to 
review and amend in future, this will also provide the opportunity for further 
consultation on the detail. 

Codes of conduct play an important role in prescribing and maintaining high 
standards of public service, integrity, transparency, and accountability. At their best, 
they establish clear guidelines for behaviour and expectations that members always 
act ethically in the public’s best interest. Currently, there is significant variation 
between adopted codes, ranging from those who choose to adopt the LGA’s full 
model code to those who simply conform with the minimum requirement of restating 
the Nolan principles. 

A prescribed model code which covers important issues such as discrimination, 
bullying, and harassment, social media use, public conduct when claiming to 
represent the council, and use of authority resources could help to uphold 
consistently high standards of public service in councils across the country and 
convey the privileged position of public office. It could also provide clarity for the 
public on the consistent baseline of ethical behaviour they have a right to expect. 

We would be interested in understanding whether councils consider there should be 
flexibility to add to the prescribed code to reflect individual authorities’ 
circumstances. They would not be able to amend the mandatory provisions. 

Question 2 

Do you think the government should prescribe a mandatory minimum code of 
conduct for local authorities in England? 

Page 11



• Yes  

• No 

• If no, why not? [Free text box] 

Question 3 

If yes, do you agree there should be scope for local authorities to add to a mandatory 
minimum code of conduct to reflect specific local challenges? 

• Yes – it is important that local authorities have flexibility to add to a 
prescribed code  

• No – a prescribed code should be uniform across the country 

• Unsure 

Question 4 

Do you think the government should set out a code of conduct requirement for 
members to cooperate with investigations into code breaches? 

• Yes 

• No 

• Unsure 

b) Standards Committees 

Currently, there is no requirement for local authorities to constitute a formal 
standards committee. The only legal requirement is for local authorities to have in 
place ‘arrangements’ to investigate and make decisions on allegations of 
misconduct. 

The government believes that all principal authorities should be required to convene 
a standards committee. Formal standards committees would support consistency in 
the handling of misconduct allegations, applying the same standards and procedures 
to all cases and providing a formal route to swiftly identify and address vexatious 
complainants. Furthermore, having a formal standards committee in place could 
support the development of expertise in handling allegations of misconduct, leading 
to more informed decision-making. Removing the scope for less formal and more ad 
hoc arrangements would also enhance transparency and demonstrate to the public 
that standards and conduct issues will always be dealt with in a structured and 
consistent way. 

This section of the consultation seeks views on two specific proposals to enhance 
the fairness and objectivity of the standards committee process. Firstly, it considers 
whether standards committee membership would be required to include at least one 

Page 12



Independent Person, as well as (where applicable[footnote 2]) at least one co-opted 
member from a parish or town council. Secondly, it seeks views on whether 
standards committees should be chaired by the Independent Person. 

Question 5 

Does your local authority currently maintain a standards committee? 

• Yes 

• No 

• Any further comments [free text box] 

Question 6 

Should all principal authorities be required to form a standards committee? 

• Yes 

• No 

• Any further comments [free text box] 

Question 7 

In most principal authorities, code of conduct complaints are typically submitted in 
the first instance to the local authority Monitoring Officer to triage, before referring a 
case for full investigation. Should all alleged code of conduct breaches which are 
referred for investigation be heard by the relevant principal authority’s standards 
committee? 

• Yes, decisions should only be heard by standards committees  

• No, local authorities should have discretion to allow decisions to be taken 
by full council  

• Unsure 

Question 8 

Do you agree that the Independent Person and co-opted members should be given 
voting rights? 

• Yes – this is important for ensuring objectivity  

• No – only elected members of the council in question should have voting 
rights 

• Unsure 

Question 9 

Should standards committees be chaired by the Independent Person? 

Page 13

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/strengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england/strengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england#fn:2


• Yes  

• No  

• Unsure  

Question 10 

If you have further views on ensuring fairness and objectivity and reducing 
incidences of vexatious complaints, please use the free text box below. 

I am wary of a Full Council meeting hearing complaints. There would need to be 
mandatory training and the infrequency of hearings would mean the learning is lost. 
There is also the risk of political bias.  

c) Publishing investigation outcomes 

To enhance transparency, local authorities should, subject to data protection 
obligations, be required to publish a summary of code of conduct allegations, and 
any investigations and decisions.  This will be accompanied with strong mechanisms 
to protect victims’ identity to ensure complainants are not dissuaded from coming 
forward for fear of being identified, 

There may be a range of views on this, as publishing the outcome of an investigation 
that proves there is no case to answer could still be considered damaging to the 
reputation of the individuals concerned, or it could be considered as helpful in 
exposing instances of petty and vexatious complaints. 

Question 11 

Should local authorities be required to publish annually a list of allegations of code of 
conduct breaches, and any investigation outcomes? 

• Yes - the public should have full access to all allegations and investigation 
outcomes  

• No - only cases in which a member is found guilty of wrongdoing should be 
published  

• Other views – text box 

d) Requiring the completion of investigations if a member stands 
down 

In circumstances where a member stands down during a live code of conduct 
investigation, councils should be required to conclude that investigation and publish 

Page 14



the findings. The government is proposing this measure to ensure that, whilst the 
member in question will no longer be in office and therefore subject to any council 
sanction, for the purposes of accountability and transparency there will still be full 
record of any code of conduct breaches during their term of office. 

Question 12 

Should investigations into the conduct of members who stand down before a 
decision continue to their conclusion, and the findings be published? 

• Yes  

• No 

• Unsure  

e) Empowering individuals affected by councillor misconduct to come 
forward 

The government appreciates that it can often be difficult for those who experience 
misconduct on the part of elected members, such as bullying and harassment, to feel 
that it is safe and worthwhile to come forward and raise their concerns. If individuals 
believe there is a likelihood that their complaint will not be addressed or handled 
appropriately, the risk is that victims will not feel empowered to come forward, 
meaning misconduct continues without action. We recognise that standing up to 
instances of misconduct takes an emotional toll, particularly in unacceptable 
situations where the complaints processes are protracted and do not result in 
meaningful action. We are committed to ensuring that those affected by misconduct 
are supported in the right way and feel empowered to come forward. This section 
seeks feedback from local authorities with experience of overseeing council 
complaints procedures, or sector bodies and individuals with views on how this might 
be carried out most effectively. We are also keen to hear from those who work, or 
have worked, in local government, and who have either witnessed, or been the 
victim of, member misconduct. 

Question 13 

If responding as a local authority, what is the average number of complaints against 
elected members that you receive over a 12-month period? 

[Number box] 

Question 13a 

For the above, where possible, please provide a breakdown for complaints made by 
officers, other elected members, the public, or any other source: 

• Complaints made by officers [Number box] 

Page 15



• Complaints made by other elected members [Number box] 

• Complaints made by the public [Number box] 

• Complaints made by any other source [Number box] 

Question 14 

If you currently work, or have worked, within a local authority, have you ever been 
the victim of (or witnessed) an instance of misconduct by an elected member and felt 
that you could not come forward? Please give reasons if you feel comfortable doing 
so. 

• Yes 

• No 

• [Free text box] 

Question 15 

If you are an elected member, have you ever been subject to a code of conduct 
complaint? If so, did you feel you received appropriate support to engage with the 
investigation? 

• Yes  

• No  

• Free text box] 

Question 16 

If you did come forward as a victim or witness, what support did you receive, and 
from whom? Is there additional support you would have liked to receive? 

[Free text box] 

Question 17 

In your view, what measures would help to ensure that people who are victims of, or 
witness, serious councillor misconduct feel comfortable coming forward and raising a 
complaint? 

[Free text box] 

6. Introducing the power of suspension with related 
safeguards 

Page 16



The government believes that local authorities should have the power to suspend 
councillors for serious code of conduct breaches for a maximum of 6 months, with 
the option to withhold allowances and institute premises and facilities bans where 
deemed appropriate. This section of the consultation explores these proposed 
provisions in greater detail. 

While the law disqualifies certain people from being, or standing for election as, a 
councillor (e.g. on the grounds of bankruptcy, or receipt of a custodial sentence of 3 
months or more, or it subject to the notification requirements of the Sexual Offences 
Act 2003 - meaning on the sex offenders register) councillors cannot currently be 
suspended or disqualified for breaching their code of conduct. 

Feedback from the local government sector in the years since the removal of the 
power to suspend councillors has indicated that the current lack of meaningful 
sanctions means local authorities have no effective way of dealing with more serious 
examples of member misconduct. 

The most severe sanctions currently used, such as formally censuring members, 
removing them from committees or representative roles, and requiring them to 
undergo training, may prove ineffective in the cases of more serious and disruptive 
misconduct.  This may particularly be the case when it comes to tackling repeat 
offenders. 

The government recognises that it is only a small minority of members who behave 
badly, but the misconduct of this small minority can have a disproportionately 
negative impact on the smooth running of councils.  We also appreciate the 
frustration members of the public and councillors can feel both in the inability to deal 
decisively with cases of misconduct, and the fact that offending members can 
continue to draw allowances. 

Question 18 

Do you think local authorities should be given the power to suspend elected 
members for serious code of conduct breaches? 

• Yes – authorities should be given the power to suspend members  

• No – authorities should not be given the power to suspend members  

• Unsure 

Question 19 

Do you think that it is appropriate for a standards committee to have the power to 
suspend members, or should this be the role of an independent body? 

• Yes - the decision to suspend for serious code of conduct breaches should 
be for the standards committee  

• No - a decision to suspend should be referred to an independent body 

• Unsure  

• [Free text box] 

Page 17



• It ought to be the case that the electorate should have the power to 
sanction and indeed remove an elected representative, not anyone else, 
elected or unelected  

•  

Question 20 

Where it is deemed that suspension is an appropriate response to a code of conduct 
breach, should local authorities be required to nominate an alternative point of 
contact for constituents during their absence? 

• Yes – councils should be required to ensure that constituents have an 
alternative point of contact during a councillor’s suspension  

• No – it should be for individual councils to determine their own 
arrangements for managing constituents’ representation during a period of 
councillor suspension  

• Unsure  

a) The length of suspension 

The Committee on Standards in Public Life recommended in their 2019 Local 
Government Ethical Standards[footnote 3] (CSPL) report that the maximum length of 
suspension, without allowances, should be 6 months and the government agrees 
with this approach. The intent of this proposal would be that non-attendance at 
council meetings during a period of suspension would be disregarded for the 
purposes of section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972, which states that a 
councillor ceases to be a member of the local authority if they fail to attend council 
meetings for 6 consecutive months.  

The government believes that suspension for the full 6 months should be reserved 
for only the most serious breaches of the code of conduct, and considers that there 
should be no minimum length of suspension to facilitate the proportionate application 
of this strengthened sanction. 

Question 21 

If the government reintroduced the power of suspension do you think there should be 
a maximum length of suspension? 

• Yes – the government should set a maximum length of suspension of 6 
months  

• Yes – however the government should set a different maximum length (in 
months) [Number box]  

• No – I do not think the government should set a maximum length of 
suspension 

Page 18

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/strengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england/strengthening-the-standards-and-conduct-framework-for-local-authorities-in-england#fn:3


• Unsure  

Question 22 

If yes, how frequently do you consider councils would be likely to make use of the 
maximum length of suspension? 

• Infrequently – likely to be applied only to the most egregious code of 
conduct breaches  

• Frequently – likely to be applied in most cases, with some exceptions for 
less serious breaches 

• Almost always – likely to be the default length of suspension for code of 
conduct breaches 

• Unsure  

b) Withholding allowances and premises and facilities bans 

Giving councils the discretion to withhold allowances from members who have been 
suspended for serious code of conduct breaches in cases where they feel it is 
appropriate to do so could act as a further deterrent against unethical behaviour. 
Holding councillors financially accountable during suspensions also reflects a 
commitment to ethical governance, the highest standards of public service, and 
value for money for local residents. 

Granting local authorities the power in legislation to ban suspended councillors from 
local authority premises and from using council equipment and facilities could be 
beneficial in cases of behavioural or financial misconduct, ensuring that suspended 
councillors do not misuse resources or continue egregious behaviour. Additionally, it 
would demonstrate that allegations of serious misconduct are handled appropriately, 
preserving trust in public service and responsible stewardship of public assets. 

These measures may not always be appropriate and should not be tied to the 
sanction of suspension by default. The government also recognises that there may 
be instances in which one or both of these sanctions is appropriate but suspension is 
not. It is therefore proposed that both the power to withhold allowances and 
premises and facilities bans represent standalone sanctions in their own right. 

Question 23 

Should local authorities have the power to withhold allowances from suspended 
councillors in cases where they deem it appropriate? 

• Yes – councils should have the option to withhold allowances from 
suspended councillors  

• No – suspended councillors should continue to receive allowances 

Page 19



• Unsure 

Question 24 

Do you think it should be put beyond doubt that local authorities have the power to 
ban suspended councillors from council premises and to withdraw the use of council 
facilities in cases where they deem it appropriate? 

• Yes – premises and facilities bans are an important tool in tackling serious 
conduct issues 

• No – suspended councillors should still be able to use council premises 
and facilities 

• Unsure  

Question 25 

Do you agree that the power to withhold members’ allowances and to implement 
premises and facilities bans should also be standalone sanctions in their own right? 

• Yes  

• No 

• Unsure  

c) Interim suspension 

Some investigations into serious code of conduct breaches may be complex and 
take time to conclude, and there may be circumstances when the misconduct that 
has led to the allegation is subsequently referred to the police to investigate. In such 
cases, the government proposes that there should be an additional power to impose 
interim suspensions whilst and until a serious or complex case under investigation is 
resolved.  

A member subject to an interim suspension would not be permitted to participate in 
any council business or meetings, with an option to include a premises and facilities 
ban. 

We consider that members should continue to receive allowances whilst on interim 
suspension and until an investigation proves beyond doubt that a serious code of 
conduct breach has occurred or a criminal investigation concludes. The decision to 
impose an interim suspension would not represent a pre-judgement of the validity of 
an allegation. 

We suggest that: 

Page 20



• Interim suspensions should initially be for up to a maximum of 3 months. 
After the expiry of an initial interim suspension period, the relevant council’s 
standards committee should review the case to decide whether it is in the 
public interest to extend. 

• As appropriate, the period of time spent on interim suspension may be 
deducted from the period of suspension a standards committee imposes. 
 

Question 26 

Do you think the power to suspend councillors on an interim basis pending the 
outcome of an investigation would be an appropriate measure?    

• Yes, powers to suspend on an interim basis would be necessary  

• No, interim suspension would not be necessary  

• Any further comments [free text box] 

Question 27 

Do you agree that local authorities should have the power to impose premises and 
facilities bans on councillors who are suspended on an interim basis? 

• Yes - the option to institute premises and facilities bans whilst serious 
misconduct cases are investigated is important  

• No - members whose investigations are ongoing should retain access to 
council premises and facilities  

• Unsure 

Question 28 

Do you think councils should be able to impose an interim suspension for any period 
of time they deem fit? 

• Yes 

• No  

• Any further comments [free text box] 

Question 29 

Do you agree that an interim suspension should initially be for up to a maximum of 3 
months, and then subject to review? 

• Yes  

• No  

• Any further comments [free text box] They should not be used 

Question 30 

Page 21



If following a 3-month review of an interim suspension, a standards committee 
decided to extend, do you think there should be safeguards to ensure a period of 
interim extension is not allowed to run on unchecked? 

• Yes – there should be safeguards  

• No – councils will know the details of individual cases and should be 
trusted to act responsibly 

Question 30a 

If you answered yes to above question, what safeguards do you think might be 
needed to ensure that unlimited suspension is not misused? 

A timeframe for the investigation must be published. 

Care that a suspension does not stop a councillor being able to stand for re-selection 
or stand at an election. 

 

d) Disqualification for multiple breaches and gross misconduct 

When councillors repeatedly breach codes of conduct, it undermines the integrity of 
the council and erodes public confidence. To curb the risk of repeat offending and 
continued misconduct once councillors return from a suspension, the government 
considers that it may be beneficial to introduce disqualification for a period of 5 years 
for those members for whom the sanction of suspension is invoked on more than 
one occasion within a 5-year period. 

This measure underlines the government’s view that the sanction of suspension 
should only be used in the most serious code of conduct breaches, because in effect 
a decision to suspend more than once in a 5-year period would be a decision to 
disqualify an elected member. However, we consider this measure would enable 
councils to signal in the strongest terms that repeated instances of misconduct will 
not be tolerated and would act as a strong deterrent against the worst kind of 
behaviours becoming embedded. 

Currently a person is disqualified if they have been convicted of any offence and 
have received a sentence of imprisonment (suspended or not) for a period of 3 
months or more (without the option of a fine) in the 5-year period before the relevant 
election. Disqualification also covers sexual offences, even if they do not result in a 
custodial or suspended sentence. 

Question 31 

Page 22



Do you think councillors should be disqualified if subject to suspension more than 
once? 

• Yes – twice within a 5-year period should result in disqualification for 5 
years 

• Yes – but for a different length of time and/or within a different timeframe 
(in years) [Number boxes] 

• No - the power to suspend members whenever they breach codes of 
conduct is sufficient  

• Any other comments The length of time should reflect the reason for 
disqualification/It ought to be the case that the electorate should have the 
power to sanction and indeed remove an elected representative, not 
anyone else, elected or unelected  

 

Question 32 

Is there a case for immediate disqualification for gross misconduct, for example in 
instances of theft or physical violence impacting the safety of other members and/or 
officers, provided there has been an investigation of the incident and the member 
has had a chance to respond before a decision is made? 

• Yes  

• No  

• Unsure 

• [Free text box] 

e) Appeals 

The government proposes that: 

• A right of appeal be introduced for any member subject to a decision to 
suspend them. 

• Members should only be able to appeal any given decision to suspend 
them once. 

• An appeal should be invoked within 5 working days of the notification of 
suspension; and 

• Following receipt of a request for appeal, arrangements should be made to 
conduct the appeal hearing within 28 working days. 

The government believes that were the sanction of suspension to be introduced (and 
potentially disqualification if a decision to suspend occurs a second time within a 5-

Page 23



year period) it would be essential for such a punitive measure to be underpinned by 
a fair appeals process. 

A right of appeal would allow members to challenge decisions that they believe are 
unjust or disproportionate and provides a safeguard to ensure that the sanction of 
suspension is applied fairly and consistently.    

We consider that it would be appropriate to either create a national body, or to vest 
the appeals function in an existing appropriate national body, and views on the 
merits of that are sought at questions 38 and 39 below. Firstly, the following 
questions test opinion on the principle of providing a mechanism for appeal. 

Question 33 

Should members have the right to appeal a decision to suspend them? 

• Yes - it is right that any member issued with a sanction of suspension can 
appeal the decision  

• No – a council’s decision following consideration of an investigation should 
be final 

• Unsure 

Question 34 

Should suspended members have to make their appeal within a set timeframe? 

• Yes – within 5 days of the decision is appropriate to ensure an efficient 
process 

• Yes – but within a different length of time (10) [Number box]  

• No – there should be no time limit for appealing a decision 

The government is also keen to explore if a right of appeal should be provided, either 
in relation to whether a complaint proceeds to full investigation and consideration by 
the standards committee, or where a claimant is dissatisfied with the determination 
of the standards committee. 

Question 35 

Do you consider that a complainant should have a right of appeal when a decision is 
taken not to investigate their complaint? 

• Yes 

• No 

• Unsure  

Question 36 

Do you consider that a complainant should have a right of appeal when an allegation 
of misconduct is not upheld? 

Page 24



• Yes  

• No  

• Unsure 

Question 37 

If you answered yes to either of the previous two questions, please use the free text 
box below to share views on what you think is the most suitable route of appeal for 
either or both situations. 

The more serious the allegation is the difference. Complaints can be trivial, 
misconduct is more serious.  

f) Potential for a national appeals body 

There is a need to consider whether appeals panels should be in-house within local 
authorities, or whether it is right that this responsibility sits with an independent 
national body. Whereas an in-house appeals process would potentially enable 
quicker resolutions by virtue of a smaller caseload, empowering a national body to 
oversee appeals from suspended members and complainants could reinforce 
transparency and impartiality and help to ensure consistency of decision-making 
throughout England, setting precedents for the types of cases that are heard. 

Question 38 

Do you think there is a need for an external national body to hear appeals? 

• Yes – an external appeals body would help to uphold impartiality  

• No – appeals cases should be heard by an internal panel 

• Any further comments [free text box] 

Question 39 

If you think there is a need for an external national appeals body, do you think it 
should: 

• Be limited to hearing elected member appeals 

• Be limited to hearing claimant appeals 

• Both of the above should be in scope 

• Please explain your answer All sides should have the right of appeal, but 
there must be short timescales for the appeal to be decided.  

Page 25



7. Public Sector Equality Duty 
Question 40 

In your view, would the proposed reforms to the local government standards and 
conduct framework particularly benefit or disadvantage individuals with protected 
characteristics, for example those with disabilities or caring responsibilities? 

Please tick an option below: 

• it would benefit individuals with protected characteristics 

• it would disadvantage individuals with protected characteristics 

• neither 

Please use the text box below to make any further comment on this question. 

[Free text box] 

 

Page 26



 
 

 

 

 
Audit & Standards Advisory 

Committee 
24 February 2025 

 

Report from the Director of Finance 
& Resources 

Lead Member – Deputy Leader & 
Cabinet Member for Finance & 

Resources 
(Councillor Mili Patel) 

 

Statement of Accounts 2023-24  

 

Wards Affected:  All 

Key or Non-Key Decision:  Key 

Open or Part/Fully Exempt: 
(If exempt, please highlight relevant paragraph 
of Part 1, Schedule 12A of 1972 Local 
Government Act) 

Open 

No. of Appendices: 

Four 
Appendix A: LB Brent Draft Letter of 

Representation 
Appendix B: LB Brent Draft Audit Opinion 
Appendix C: LB Brent Pension Fund Draft Letter of 

Representation 
Appendix D: LB Brent Pension Fund Draft Audit 

Opinion 

Background Papers:  N/A 

Contact Officer(s): 
(Name, Title, Contact Details) 

Minesh Patel 
Corporate Director of Finance & Resources 
020 8937 6528 
Email: Minesh.Patel@brent.gov.uk 
 

 
1.0 Purpose of the Report 
 
1.0 This report provides an update on the statement of accounts for the Council 

and Pension Fund for 2023/24 
 

2.0 Recommendation(s)  
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



 
 

2.1 To recommend the Audit & Standards Committee delegate approval of the draft 
letters of representation to Grant Thornton for the Council and Pension Fund to 
the Corporate Director of Finance & Resources, as set out in appendices A and 
C. 

 
2.2 That the committee note the draft audit opinions, as set out in appendices B 

and D. 
 
2.3 To recommend the Audit & Standards Committee approve the final statement 

of accounts for 2023/24, subject to a written assurance being provided that all 
outstanding matters and adjustments contained in the Audit Findings report had 

been made.  If there were any material adjustments required as a result of the 

final Audit Findings report being issued, these would be reported back to the 
committee. 

 
2.4 To recommend the Audit & Standards Committee agree the audit fees for 

2023/24, as set out in section 3.2.7 of this report. 
 
3.0 Contribution to Borough Plan Priorities and Strategic Context 
 
3.1 The statement of accounts is the formal audited accounts of the Council. The 

purpose of the statement of accounts is to give clear information on the 
Council’s overall finances and demonstrate stewardship of public money for the 
year. Being able to independently demonstrate that the Council’s financial 
affairs are sound, will ensure the Council can achieve its Borough Plan priorities 
and objectives. 

 
3.2 Detail 
 
3.2.1 The Audit Committee has responsibility for considering issues raised by the 

external auditors as part of the process of approving the annual statement of 
accounts. The basis for this consideration is the “report to those charged with 
governance” also referred to as the ISA260 (Audit Findings Report). The 
Council’s external auditors, Grant Thornton, produce the report following 
completion of the audit of accounts. The report is intended to identify any 
changes to the accounts, unadjusted mis-statements or material weaknesses 
in controls identified during the audit work.  

 
3.2.2 At the time of despatch of this report, Grant Thornton are in the process of 

finalising the audit of the 2023/24 accounts and their ISA260 (Audit Findings 
Report). A detailed update on the Audit Findings Report was presented to the 
committee on 4 February 2025. Since then, the audit of Plant, Property and 
Equipment, which was the original cause of the delay in the audit, has 
concluded and adjustments to the accounts have been agreed. Unfortunately, 
a final AFR could not be issued in time for the committee meeting and therefore 
the auditors will provide a verbal update at the committee meeting. The final 
Statement of Accounts and AFR will be published after the meeting. The 
committee is asked to approve the Council’s statement of accounts, subject to 
no other material changes required by the auditors. Representatives from Grant 

Page 28



 
 

Thornton will attend the meeting to provide an update on the audit and respond 
to any matters raised by the Committee. 

 
3.2.3 A series of ‘backstop’ dates were introduced by the government in 2024 as part 

of its plans to clear local authority audit backlogs. If the audit of the accounts 
cannot be completed before the backstop date then the auditor can issue a 
modified or disclaimed audit opinion.  A disclaimer of opinion states that the 
auditor does not express an opinion on parts of the financial statements. For 
2022/23, the backstop date was 13 December 2024 and for 2023/24, the 
backstop date is 28 February 2025.  It is understood that for 2022/23, 361 
disclaimed opinions were issued. According to analysis by Public Sector Audit 
Appointments (PSAA), 43.9% of local government accounts for 2022/23 were 
disclaimed due to the backstop date of 13 December, while only 1.1% of audits 
for 2022/23 were delivered by the original publishing date. The unprecedented 
number of disclaimed opinions illustrates the scale of the challenges facing the 
sector and local audit. It is expected that a similar number of disclaimed 
opinions will be issued for 2023/24 accounts.  

 
3.2.4 At the time of despatch of this report, it is expected that the accounts will be 

signed before the backstop deadline of 28 February 2025.  The final accounts 
and final Audit Findings Report will be sent to the committee as soon as 
practically possible. 

 
3.2.5 As part of the accounts sign off process, Brent are required to issue a letter to 

the auditors that sets out the responsibilities and representations made by Brent 
to the auditor to confirm that certain matters have been undertaken and confirm 
the responsibilities of Brent to ensure there is no misunderstanding. The draft 
letters for the Council and Pension Fund are set out in Appendices A and C. 

 
3.2.6 The draft audit opinion highlights they key matters arising from the audit of the 

2023/24 accounts and whether the council’s financial statements present a true 
and fair view of the financial position, its expenditure and income for the year 
and whether they have been properly prepared. It is also used to report the 
audit findings to those charged with governance.  The draft audit opinions for 
the Council and Pension Fund are set out in Appendices B and D. 

 
3.2.7 Details of audit fees were set out for the committee on 4 February 2025 as part 

of the Audit Findings Report and discussed with committee members. In 
summary, the fees as per the original audit plan are £515,639 and the additional 
fees incurred as a result of the additional work required on Plant, Property and 
Equipment totals £60,120. Total fees are £575,759. As part of the accounts 
sign off process, members are asked to agree the additional audit fees. 

 
4.0 Stakeholder and ward member consultation and engagement 
 
4.1 There are no direct considerations arising out of this report. 
 
5.0 Financial Consideration  
 
5.1 There are no financial implications arising as result of this report. 

Page 29



 
 

 
6.0 Legal Considerations 
 
6.1 There are no legal implications arising as result of this report. 
 
7.0 Equity, Diversity & Inclusion (EDI) Considerations 
 
7.1 Not applicable. 
 
8.0 Climate Change and Environmental Considerations 
 
8.1 Not applicable. 
 
9.0 Human Resources/Property Considerations 
 
9.1 Not applicable. 
 
10.0 Communication Considerations 
 
10.1 Not applicable 
 

 
 
 
 

Report sign off:   
 
Minesh Patel 
Corporate Director of Finance & 
Resources 
 

Page 30



 

  
 1 

  

 

 

 

TEL / MOB  

EMAIL  

WEB 

Brent Civic Centre, 

Engineers Way,  

Wembley  

Middlesex HA9 0FJ 

020 8937 4043 

Minesh.Patel@Brent.gov.uk 

www.brent.gov.uk 

 

Grant Thornton UK LLP 
30 Finsbury Square 
London  
EC2A 1AG 
 
 
[Date] – {TO BE DATED SAME DATE AS DATE OF AUDIT OPINION] 
 
 
Dear Grant Thornton UK LLP 

London Borough of Brent 

Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 

This representation letter is provided in connection with the audit of the financial statements of London Borough of 

Brent and its subsidiary undertakings, First Wave Housing Ltd, i4B Holdings Ltd, Barham Park Trust and LGA 

Digital Services for the year ended 31 March 2024 for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the 

group and Council financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 

Kingdom 2023/24 and applicable law.  

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such inquiries as we considered necessary 

for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves: 

Financial Statements 

i. We have fulfilled our responsibilities for the preparation of the group and Council’s financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on 

Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2023/24 ("the Code"); in particular the financial 

statements are fairly presented in accordance therewith. 

ii. We have complied with the requirements of all statutory directions affecting the group and Council and 

these matters have been appropriately reflected and disclosed in the financial statements. 

iii. The Council has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that could have a material effect on 

the group and Council financial statements in the event of non-compliance. There has been no non-

compliance with requirements of any regulatory authorities that could have a material effect on the financial 

statements in the event of non-compliance. 

iv. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control to 

prevent and detect fraud. 

Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair 
value, are reasonable. Such accounting estimates include plant, property and equipment valuations, 
pension fund net liability valuation, fair value estimates, PFI liability estimates, provisions estimates, 
estimates for income and expenditure accruals, and expected credit loss and impairment allowance 
estimates.  We are satisfied that the material judgements used in the preparation of the financial 
statements are soundly based, in accordance with the Code and adequately disclosed in the financial 
statements. We understand our responsibilities includes identifying and considering alternative, methods, 
assumptions or source data that would be equally valid under the financial reporting framework, and why 
these alternatives were rejected in favour of the estimate used. During the year we reviewed our estimation 
process for material estimates and the no changes were made. We are satisfied that the methods, the data 

Page 31

http://www.brent.gov.uk/


  
 2 

and the significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates and their related disclosures 
are appropriate to achieve recognition, measurement or disclosure that is reasonable in accordance with 
the Code and adequately disclosed in the financial statements 

v. We confirm that we are satisfied that the actuarial assumptions underlying the valuation of pension scheme 

assets and liabilities for IAS19 Employee Benefits disclosures are consistent with our knowledge. We 

confirm that all settlements and curtailments have been identified and properly accounted for. We also 

confirm that all significant post-employment benefits have been identified and properly accounted for.  

vi. Except as disclosed in the group and Council financial statements: 

a. there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent 

b. none of the assets of the [group and ]Council has been assigned, pledged or mortgaged 

c. there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional or non-recurring items requiring 

separate disclosure. 

vii. Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in 

accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards and the Code. 

viii. All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which International Financial 

Reporting Standards and the Code require adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed. 

ix. We have considered the adjusted misstatements, and misclassification and disclosures changes schedules 

included in your Audit Findings Report. The group and Council financial statements have been amended 

for these misstatements, misclassifications and disclosure changes and are free of material misstatements, 

including omissions. 

x. We have considered the unadjusted misstatements schedule included in your Audit Findings Report. We 

have not adjusted the financial statements for these misstatements brought to our attention as they are 

immaterial to the results of the Council and the groups and its financial position at the year-end. The 

financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions. 

xi. Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the 

requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards.  

xii. We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or classification of assets and 

liabilities reflected in the financial statements. 

xiii. The prior period adjustments disclosed in Note [X] to the financial statements are accurate and complete. 

There are no other prior period errors to bring to your attention. 

xiv. We have updated our going concern assessment. We continue to believe that the group and Council’s 

financial statements should be prepared on a going concern basis and have not identified any material 

uncertainties related to going concern on the grounds that :  

a. the nature of the group and Council means that, notwithstanding any intention to cease the group 

and Council operations in their current form, it will continue to be appropriate to adopt the going 

concern basis of accounting because, in such an event, services it performs can be expected to 

continue to be delivered by related public authorities and preparing the financial statements on a 

going concern basis will still provide a faithful representation of the items in the financial 

statements; 

b. the financial reporting framework permits the entity to prepare its financial statements on the basis 

of the presumption set out under a) above; and  

c. the group and Council’s system of internal control has not identified any events or conditions 

relevant to going concern. 

We believe that no further disclosures relating to the group and Council's ability to continue as a going 

concern need to be made in the financial statements  

 

xv. We have considered whether accounting transactions have complied with the requirements of the Local 

Government Housing Act 1989 in respect of the Housing Revenue Account ring-fence. 

xvi. The group and Council has complied with all aspects of ring-fenced grants that could have a material effect 

on the group and Council’s financial statements in the event of non-compliance. 

Page 32



  
 3 

Information Provided 

xvii. We have provided you with: 

a. access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the group and 

Council’s financial statements such as records, documentation and other matters; 

b. additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of your audit; and 

c. access to persons within the Council via remote arrangements,from whom you determined it 

necessary to obtain audit evidence. 

xviii. We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which management is aware. 

xix. All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial statements. 

xx. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be 

materially misstated as a result of fraud. 
 

xxi. We have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of and 

that affects the group and Council, and involves: 

a. management; 

b. employees who have significant roles in internal control; or 

c. others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

xxii. We have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the 

financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators or others. 

xxiii. We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws 

and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing financial statements. 

xxiv. We have disclosed to you the identity of the group and Council's related parties and all the related party 

relationships and transactions of which we are aware. 

xxv. We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be 

considered when preparing the financial statements. 

Annual Governance Statement 

xxvi. We are satisfied that the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) fairly reflects the Council's risk assurance 

and governance framework and we confirm that we are not aware of any significant risks that are not 

disclosed within the AGS. 

Narrative Report 

xxvii. The disclosures within the Narrative Report fairly reflect our understanding of the group and Council's 

financial and operating performance over the period covered by the financial statements. 

Approval 

The delegation of the approval to the Corporate Director of Finance and Resources of this letter of representation 
was minuted by the Council’s Audit and Standards Committee at its meeting on 24 February 2024.  
 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
Name…………………………… 
 
Position…………………………. 
 
Date……………………………. 
 
 

Page 33



  
 4 

Signed on behalf of the Council 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



Grant Thornton UK LLP. 1 

Independent auditor's report to the Members of London Borough of 

Brent 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion on financial statements 

We have audited the financial statements of London Borough of Brent (the ‘Authority’) and its 

subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 March 2024, which comprise the Balance Sheet, 

Movement in Reserves Statement, Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, Cash Flow 

Statement, notes to the financial statements including a summary of significant accounting policies, 

Housing Revenue Account Income and Expenditure Statement, Collection Fund Account, the notes to 

the Collection Fund accounts, Group Balance Sheet, Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement, Group Cash Flow Statement, Group Movement in Reserves, and notes to the group 

accounts including a summary of significant group accounting policies. The financial reporting 

framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 

Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2023/24. 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the group and of the Authority as at 31 March 

2024 and of the group’s expenditure and income and the Authority’s expenditure and income for the 

year then ended;  

 have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 

Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2023/24; and  

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 

2014. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 

applicable law, as required by the Code of Audit Practice (2024) (“the Code of Audit Practice”) approved 

by the Comptroller and Auditor General. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 

described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. 

We are independent of the group and the Authority in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 

relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we 

have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that 

the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the Corporate Director Finance and 

Resource’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 

whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 

the group and the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our report to the related disclosures in the 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the auditor’s opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report. However, future 

events or conditions may cause the Authority or the group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

In our evaluation of the Corporate Director Finance and Resource’s conclusions, and in accordance with 

the expectation set out within the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 

United Kingdom 2023/24 that the Authority’s and group’s financial statements shall be prepared on a 

going concern basis, we considered the inherent risks associated with the continuation of services 

provided by the group and the Authority. In doing so we had regard to the guidance provided in Practice 

Note 10 Audit of financial statements and regularity of public sector bodies in the United Kingdom 

(Revised 2022) on the application of ISA (UK) 570 Going Concern to public sector entities. We 

assessed the reasonableness of the basis of preparation used by the group and Authority and the group 

and Authority’s disclosures over the going concern period.  

Page 35



Grant Thornton UK LLP. 2 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Corporate Director Finance and 

Resource’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is 

appropriate.  

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to 

events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Authority’s and 

the group’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the 

financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Corporate Director Finance and Resources with 

respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report. 

Other information 

The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Governance Statement and the 

narrative report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Corporate 

Director Finance and Resources is responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial 

statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in 

our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 

information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 

audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or 

apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 

misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we 

conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 

fact.  

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit Practice 

Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in November 2024 on behalf of 

the Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider whether 

the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with the requirements of the CIPFA/LASAAC Code 

of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2023/24, or is misleading or 

inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider 

whether the Annual Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks are 

satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.  

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice  

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements, the 

other information published together with the financial statements in the Statement of Accounts for the 

financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if: 

 we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 

2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 

 we make a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 

 we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law under 

Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the 

audit; or;  

 we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the 

course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or  

Page 36



Grant Thornton UK LLP. 3 

 we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 

2014, in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters. 

Responsibilities of the Authority and the Corporate Director Finance and Resources  

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities, the Authority is required to make 

arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its officers 

has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In this authority, that officer is the Corporate 

Director Finance and Resources. The Corporate Director Finance and Resources is responsible for the 

preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance with 

proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 

United Kingdom 2023/24, for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal 

control as the Corporate Director Finance and Resources determines is necessary to enable the 

preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the Corporate Director Finance and Resources is responsible for 

assessing the Authority’s and the group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 

applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 

they have been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the Authority and the 

group without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 

the basis of these financial statements. Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance 

with laws and regulations. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, 

including fraud, is detailed below. 

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the group 

and Authority and determined that the most significant which are directly relevant to specific assertions 

in the financial statements are those related to the reporting frameworks the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 

Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2022/23, the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014, the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the Local Government Act 2003, the 

Local Government Act 1972, the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, and Local Government 

Finance Act 1988 (as amended by the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and the Local Government 

Finance Act 2012). 

We enquired of management and the Audit and Standards Committee, concerning the group and 

Authority’s policies and procedures relating to:  

 the identification, evaluation and compliance with laws and regulations; 

 the detection and response to the risks of fraud; and 

 the establishment of internal controls to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-compliance 

with laws and regulations.  

We enquired of management, internal audit and the Audit and Standards Committee, whether they were 
aware of any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations or whether they had any 
knowledge of actual, suspected or alleged fraud.  

We assessed the susceptibility of the Authority and group’s financial statements to material 

misstatement, including how fraud might occur, by evaluating management’s incentives and 

opportunities for manipulation of the financial statements. This included the evaluation of the risk of 

management override of controls, fraud in income and expenditure recognition, and potential 

management bias in determining accounting estimates for the valuation of land and buildings (including 

council dwellings), the valuation of the pension fund net liability, and the completeness of expenditure 

Page 37



Grant Thornton UK LLP. 4 

accruals. We determined that the principal risks were in relation to manual journals that altered the 

Authority’s financial performance for the year, post year-end and closing journal entries. Our audit 

procedures involved:  

 evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls that the Corporate Director of Finance and 

Resources has in place to prevent and detect fraud; 

 analysis of the journals listing and determination of the criteria for selecting high risk unusual 

journals; 

 identification and testing of unusual journal entries made during the year and the accounts 

production stage for appropriateness and corroboration; 

 reviewing and testing transfer between the General Fund and HRA and inter-group journals. 

 Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its significant accounting 

estimates in respect of land and buildings valuations, council dwelling valuations, PFI 

valuations, the valuation of the defined benefit net pension fund liability, grants and income 

recognition, PFI provisions, minimum revenue provision, and manual expenditure accruals; 

and 

 assessing the extent of compliance with the relevant laws and regulations as part of our 

procedures on the related financial statement item. 

These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements 

were free from fraud or error. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher 

than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error and detecting irregularities that result from fraud is 

inherently more difficult than detecting those that result from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 

deliberate concealment, forgery or intentional misrepresentations. Also, the further removed non-

compliance with laws and regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the financial 

statements, the less likely we would become aware of it. 

We communicated relevant laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team 

members, including the potential for fraud in revenue and expenditure recognition, and the significant 

accounting estimates related to land and buildings valuations, council dwelling valuations, PFI 

valuations, depreciation, the valuation of defined benefit net pension fund liabilities, provisions, income 

and expenditure accruals, PFI liabilities, credit loss and impairment allowances, and fair value 

estimates. We remained alert to any indications of non-compliance with laws and regulations, including 

fraud, throughout the audit. 

Our assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and capabilities of the group and 

Authority’s engagement team included consideration of the engagement team's: 

 understanding of, and practical experience with audit engagements of a similar nature and 

complexity through appropriate training and participation; 

 knowledge of the local government sector in which the group and Authority operates; and 

 understanding of the legal and regulatory requirements specific to the Authority and group 

including: 

o the provisions of the applicable legislation 

o guidance issued by CIPFA/LASAAC and SOLACE 

o the applicable statutory provisions. 

In assessing the potential risks of material misstatement, we obtained an understanding of: 

 the Authority and group’s operations, including the nature of its income and expenditure and 

its services and of its objectives and strategies to understand the classes of transactions, 

account balances, expected financial statement disclosures and business risks that may 

result in risks of material misstatement. 

 the Authority and group's control environment, including the policies and procedures 

implemented by the Authority and group to ensure compliance with the requirements of the 

financial reporting framework. 

Page 38



Grant Thornton UK LLP. 5 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 

Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms 

part of our auditor’s report. 

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – the Authority’s 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 

use of resources 

Matter on which we are required to report by exception – the Authority’s arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we have not been 

able to satisfy ourselves that the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2024.   

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matter except on 4 December 2024 we identified: 

A significant weakness in the Council’s arrangements to deliver financial sustainability and have 

concluded that there was a significant weakness in arrangements. In 2023-24 the Council faced 

financial pressures that resulted in an overspend of £13.5m. The latest forecasts for 2024-25 suggest a 

potential £14.4m. The Council has proactively managed pressures through in-year measures and the 

use of strategic reserves. The Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) outlines a cumulative £30m 

deficit by 2027-28. There are agreed savings proposals to manage this but addressing the challenge is 

crucial to avoid a further call of £20m on Council reserves. As at 31 March 2024 the Council has a 

general fund balance of £20.2m and earmarked general fund reserves of £134.1m. The Council’s focus 

needs to remain on finding sustainable solutions that ensure the continued delivery of services without 

over-reliance on one-time sources of funding. The quantum of savings proposals pose risk to the 

financial sustainability of the Council if they are not able to be achieved. The Council’s work to date on 

the MTFS has identified the challenges ahead and savings levels needed for a sustainable future. 

We recommended that the Council needs to take the difficult decisions needed to ensure that a realistic 

budget can be set for 2025-26 and that this can be delivered without the need to further draw on 

reserves. It must be aware of the significant financial sustainability risk posed by the savings required in 

the medium term to deliver a balanced budget for 2025-26. 

Responsibilities of the Authority 

The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 

and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied 

that the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 

its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of 

the Authority's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

are operating effectively. 

We undertake our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance 

issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2024. This guidance sets out the 

arrangements that fall within the scope of ‘proper arrangements’. When reporting on these 

arrangements, the Code of Audit Practice requires auditors to structure their commentary on 

arrangements under three specified reporting criteria: 

 Financial sustainability: how the Authority plans and manages its resources to ensure it can 

continue to deliver its services;  

 Governance: how the Authority ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly 

manages its risks; and  

Page 39

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities


Grant Thornton UK LLP. 6 

 Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the Authority uses information about its 

costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services. 

We document our understanding of the arrangements the Authority has in place for each of these three 

specified reporting criteria, gathering sufficient evidence to support our risk assessment and 

commentary in our Auditor’s Annual Report. In undertaking our work, we consider whether there is 

evidence to suggest that there are significant weaknesses in arrangements. 

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Delay in 
certification of completion of the audit 

We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for London Borough of Brent for the 

year ended 31 March 2024 in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability 

Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice until we have completed the work necessary in relation to 

consolidation returns, including Whole of Government Accounts (WGA), and the National Audit Office 

has concluded their work in respect of WGA for the year ended 31 March 2024. We are satisfied that 

this work does not have a material effect on the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the Members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the 

Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 [and as set out in paragraph 85 of the Statement of 

Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited]. 

Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Authority’s Members those matters 

we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 

permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and the 

Authority's Members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

Signature:          

Sophia Brown, Key Audit Partner 

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor 

 

 

London 

XX February 2025 

 

 

Page 40



 

  
 1 

  

 

 

 

TEL / MOB  

EMAIL  

WEB 

Brent Civic Centre, 

Engineers Way,  

Wembley  

Middlesex HA9 0FJ 

020 8937 4043 

Minesh.Patel@Brent.gov.uk 

www.brent.gov.uk 

 

Grant Thornton UK LLP 
30 Finsbury Square,  
London,  
EC2A 1AG 
 
 
[Date] – {TO BE DATED SAME DATE AS DATE OF AUDIT OPINION] 
 
 
Dear Sirs 

Brent Pension Fund 

Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2024 

This representation letter is provided in connection with the audit of the financial statements of Brent Pension Fund 

for the year ended 31 March 2024 for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the financial statements 

give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the CIPFA/LASAAC 

Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2023/24 and applicable law.  

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such inquiries as we considered necessary 

for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves: 

Financial Statements 

i. We have fulfilled our responsibilities for the preparation of the Fund’s financial statements in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 

Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2023/24 ("the Code"); in particular the financial statements are 

fairly presented in accordance therewith. 

ii. We have complied with the requirements of all statutory directions affecting the Fund and these matters 

have been appropriately reflected and disclosed in the financial statements. 

iii. The Fund has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that could have a material effect on the 

financial statements in the event of non-compliance. There has been no non-compliance with requirements 

of any regulatory authorities that could have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of 

non-compliance. 

iv. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control to 

prevent and detect fraud. 

v. Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those measured at fair 

value, are reasonable. Such accounting estimates include the valuation of Level 3 investments, Level 2 

investments and the Actuarial Present Value of Promised Retired Benefits. We are satisfied that the 

material judgements used in the preparation of the financial statements are soundly based, in accordance 

with the Code and adequately disclosed in the financial statements. We understand our responsibilities 

includes identifying and considering alternative, methods, assumptions or source data that would be 

equally valid under the financial reporting framework, and why these alternatives were rejected in favour of 

the estimate used. We are satisfied that the methods, the data and the significant assumptions used by us 

in making accounting estimates and their related disclosures are appropriate to achieve recognition, 

measurement or disclosure that is reasonable in accordance with the Code and adequately disclosed in 

the financial statements. 

Page 41

http://www.brent.gov.uk/


  
 2 

vi. Except as disclosed in the financial statements: 

a. there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent 

b. none of the assets of the Fund has been assigned, pledged or mortgaged 

c. there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional or non-recurring items requiring 

separate disclosure. 

vii. Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in 

accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards and the Code. 

viii. All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which International Financial 

Reporting Standards and the Code require adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed. 

ix. We have considered the adjusted misstatements, and misclassification and disclosures changes schedules 

included in your Audit Findings Report. The financial statements have been amended for these 

misstatements, misclassifications and disclosure changes and are free of material misstatements, including 

omissions. 

x. We have considered the unadjusted misstatements schedule included in your Audit Findings Report. We 

have not adjusted the financial statements for these misstatements brought to our attention as they are 

immaterial to the results of the Fund and its financial position at the year-end. The financial statements are 

free of material misstatements, including omissions. 

xi. Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the 

requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards.  

xii. We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or classification of assets and 

liabilities reflected in the financial statements. 

xiii. We have updated our going concern assessment. We continue to believe that the Fund’s financial 

statements should be prepared on a going concern basis and have not identified any material uncertainties 

related to going concern on the grounds that that:  

a. the nature of the Fund means that, notwithstanding any intention to liquidate the Fund or cease its 

operations in their current form, it will continue to be appropriate to adopt the going concern basis 

of accounting because, in such an event, services it performs can be expected to continue to be 

delivered by related public authorities and preparing the financial statements on a going concern 

basis will still provide a faithful representation of the items in the financial statements 

b. the financial reporting framework permits the entity to prepare its financial statements on the basis 

of the presumption set out under a) above; and  

c. the Fund’s system of internal control has not identified any events or conditions relevant to going 

concern. 

We believe that no further disclosures relating to the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern need to 

be made in the financial statements. 

 

Information Provided 

xiv. We have provided you with: 

a. access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the financial 

statements such as records, documentation and other matters; 

b. additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of your audit; and 

c. access to persons within the Fund via remote arrangements from whom you determined it 

necessary to obtain audit evidence. 

xv. We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which management is aware. 

xvi. All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial statements. 
 

Page 42



  
 3 

xvii. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be 

materially misstated as a result of fraud. 
 

xviii. We have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of and 

that affects the Fund, and involves: 

a. management; 

b. employees who have significant roles in internal control; or 

c. others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

xix. We have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the 

financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators or others. 

xx. We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws 

and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing financial statements. 

xxi. There have been no communications with The Pensions Regulator or other regulatory bodies during the 

year or subsequently concerning matters of non-compliance with any legal duty.  

xxii. We are not aware of any reports having been made to The Pensions Regulator by any of our advisors.   

xxiii. We have disclosed to you the identity of the Fund's related parties and all the related party relationships 

and transactions of which we are aware. 

xxiv. We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be 

considered when preparing the financial statements. 

Approval 

The approval of this letter of representation was minuted by the Fund’s Audit and Standards Committee at its 
meeting on 04 February 2025. 
 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
Name…………………………… 
 
Position…………………………. 
 
Date……………………………. 
 
 
Name…………………………… 
 
Position…………………………. 
 
Date……………………………. 
 

Signed on behalf of the Fund 

 

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Grant Thornton UK LLP. 1 

Independent auditor's report to the members of London Borough of 

Brent on the pension fund financial statements of Brent Pension Fund 

Opinion on financial statements 

We have audited the financial statements of Brent Pension Fund (the ‘Pension Fund’) administered by 

London Borough of Brent (the ‘Authority’) for the year ended 31 March 2024, which comprise the Fund 

Account, the Net Assets Statement and notes to the pension fund financial statements, including a 

summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in 

their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom 2023/24. 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the financial transactions of the Pension Fund during the year ended 31 

March 2024 and of the amount and disposition at that date of the fund’s assets and liabilities;  

 have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 

Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2023/24; and  

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 

2014. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and 

applicable law, as required by the Code of Audit Practice (2024) (“the Code of Audit Practice”) approved 

by the Comptroller and Auditor General. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 

described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. 

We are independent of the Authority in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 

audit of the Pension Fund’s financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and 

we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe 

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the Corporate Director Finance and 

Resources’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 

whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 

the Pension Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our report to the related disclosures in the financial 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the auditor’s opinion. Our conclusions are 

based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report. However, future events or conditions 

may cause the Pension Fund to cease to continue as a going concern. 

In our evaluation of the Corporate Director Finance and Resources’ conclusions, and in accordance with 

the expectation set out within the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 

United Kingdom 2023/24 that the Pension Fund’s financial statements shall be prepared on a going 

concern basis, we considered the inherent risks associated with the continuation of services provided by 

the Pension Fund. In doing so we had regard to the guidance provided in Practice Note 10 Audit of 

financial statements and regularity of public sector bodies in the United Kingdom (Revised 2022) on the 

application of ISA (UK) 570 Going Concern to public sector entities. We assessed the reasonableness 

of the basis of preparation used by the Authority in the Pension Fund financial statements and the 

disclosures in the Pension Fund financial statements over the going concern period.  

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Corporate Director Finance and 

Resources’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the Pension Fund 

financial statements is appropriate.  

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to 

events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Pension Fund’s 

ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial 

statements are authorised for issue. 

Page 45



Grant Thornton UK LLP. 2 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Corporate Director Finance and Resources’ with 

respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report. 

Other information 

The other information comprises the information included in the Statement of Accounts, other than the 

Pension Fund’s financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, and our auditor’s report on the 

Authority’s financial statements. The Corporate Director Finance and Resources’ is responsible for the 

other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, 

except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon.  

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 

information is materially inconsistent with the Pension Fund financial statements or our knowledge 

obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 

inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a 

material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, 

we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 

that fact.  

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice (2024) published by the National 

Audit Office on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the Pension Fund’s financial 

statements, the other information published together with the Pension Fund’s financial statements in the 

Statement of Accounts for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is 

consistent with the Pension Fund financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if: 

 we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 

2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 

 we make a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 

 we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law under 

Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the 

audit; or;  

 we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the 

course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or  

 we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 

2014, in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters in relation to the Pension Fund. 

Responsibilities of the Authority and the Corporate Director Finance and Resources  

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities, the Authority is required to make 

arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that one of its officers 

has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In this authority, that officer is the Corporate 

Director Finance and Resources. The Corporate Director Finance and Resources is responsible for the 

preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the Pension Fund’s financial statements, in 

accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 

Accounting in the United Kingdom 2023/24, for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for 

such internal control as the Corporate Director Finance and Resources determines is necessary to 

enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error.  

Page 46



Grant Thornton UK LLP. 3 

In preparing the Pension Fund’s financial statements, the Corporate Director Finance and Resources is 

responsible for assessing the Pension Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 

applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 

they have been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the Pension Fund 

without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Pension Fund’s financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 

an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is 

not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 

aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 

the basis of these financial statements. Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance 

with laws and regulations. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, 

including fraud, is detailed below. 

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the Pension 

Fund and determined that the most significant which are directly relevant to specific assertions in the 

financial statements are those related to the reporting frameworks (the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 

Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2023/24, the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014, the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and the Local Government Act 

2003). 

We enquired of management and the Audit and Standards Committee, concerning the Authority’s 

policies and procedures relating to:  

 the identification, evaluation and compliance with laws and regulations; 

 the detection and response to the risks of fraud; and 

 the establishment of internal controls to mitigate risks related to fraud or non-compliance 

with laws and regulations.  

We enquired of management, internal audit and the Audit and Standards Committee, whether they were 
aware of any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations or whether they had any 
knowledge of actual, suspected or alleged fraud.  

We assessed the susceptibility of the Pension Fund’s financial statements to material misstatement, 

including how fraud might occur, by evaluating management’s incentives and opportunities for 

manipulation of the financial statements. This included the evaluation of management override of 

controls. We determined that the principal risks were in relation to journals: 

 using data analytics, we considered all journal entries for fraud and set specific criteria to 

identify the entries we considered to be high risk. Such criteria included journals with unusual 

values; journals posted after the year end; journals with a material impact on the surplus/deficit 

for the year; and journals created by senior managers. 

Our audit procedures involved:  

 evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls that management has in place to prevent 

and detect fraud, 

 journal entry testing, with a focus on what we deem to be high risk journals, 

 challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its significant 

accounting estimates in respect of Level 2 investments and Level 3 investments and 

IAS 26 pensions liability valuations; and 

 assessing the extent of compliance with the relevant laws and regulations as part of our 

procedures on the related financial statement item. 

These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements 

were free from fraud or error. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher 

than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error and detecting irregularities that result from fraud is 

Page 47



Grant Thornton UK LLP. 4 

inherently more difficult than detecting those that result from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 

deliberate concealment, forgery or intentional misrepresentations. Also, the further removed non-

compliance with laws and regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the financial 

statements, the less likely we would become aware of it. 

We communicated relevant laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement team 

members, including the potential for fraud in revenue and expenditure recognition, and the significant 

accounting estimates related to Level 2 investments, Level 3 investments and IAS 26 pension liability 

valuations. 

Our assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and capabilities of the 

engagement team included consideration of the engagement team's. 

 understanding of, and practical experience with audit engagements of a similar nature and 

complexity through appropriate training and participation 

 knowledge of the local government pensions sector 

 understanding of the legal and regulatory requirements specific to the Pension Fund 

including: 

o the provisions of the applicable legislation 

o guidance issued by CIPFA/LASAAC and SOLACE 

o the applicable statutory provisions. 

In assessing the potential risks of material misstatement, we obtained an understanding of: 

 the Pension Fund’s operations, including the nature of its income and expenditure and its 

services and of its objectives and strategies to understand the classes of transactions, 

account balances, expected financial statement disclosures and business risks that may 

result in risks of material misstatement. 

 the Authority's control environment, including the policies and procedures implemented by 

the Authority to ensure compliance with the requirements of the financial reporting 

framework. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 

Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms 

part of our auditor’s report. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the 

Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 [and as set out in paragraph 85 of the Statement of 

Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited]. 

Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Authority’s members those matters 

we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 

permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and the 

Authority's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

Matt Dean, Key Audit Partner 

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor 

London 

Date: 

 

 

Page 48

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities


1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

43

44

45

46

A E F G H I J K L

A&SAC FORWARD PLAN / WORK PROGRAMME / UPCOMING AGENDA 2024/25

Topic / Date 12-Jun-24 24-Jul-24 25-Sep-24 31-Oct-24 04-Dec-24 04-Feb-25 24-Feb-25 25-Mar-25

Internal Audit & Investigations

Internal Audit Annual Report, including Annual Head of Audit Opinion X

Annual/Interim Counter Fraud Report X X

Internal Audit Plan Progress Update X X

Internal Audit Strategy &  Plan X

External Audit

External Audit progress report X X

Audit Findings Report Council & Pension Fund Accounts 23-24 X X X*

Draft External Audit Plan 2024-25 (incl Pension Fund) X X

Annual Auditor's Report X

Financial Reporting

Treasury Management Mid-term Report X

Treasury Management Strategy X

Statement of Accounts & Pension Fund Accounts X X X*

Inquiries of Management and those charged with governance X X

Treasury Management Outturn Report X

Progress on implementation of FM Code (rescheduled for June 2025)

DSG High Needs Block Recovery Plan- Progress Update X

Governance

To review performance & management of i4B Holdings Ltd and First Wave 

Housing Ltd
X

X

Review of the use of RIPA Powers X

Receive and agree the Annual Governance Statement X*

Risk Management

Strategic Risk Register Update X X

Emergency Preparedness X

Audit Committee Effectiveness

Review the Committee's Forward Plan X X X X X X

Review the performance of the Committee (self-assessment) X

Chair's Annual Report X

Training Requirements for Audit Committee Members (as required)

Standards Matters

Standards Report (including gifts & hospitality) X
X X X

Annual Standards Report X

Complaints & Code of Conduct X

Respone to Government consultation on standards regime X

Review of the Member Development Programme and Members’ Expenses 

(incorporating Review of the Financial and Procedural Rules governing the 

Mayor's Charity Appeal) 

X

Committee Development

Treasury Management Training X X

Levels of Control and Lines of Defence Training

Review of Committee performance linked to Global Internal Audit Standards

Role of External Audit & Committee X

* Requires approval by Audit & Standards Committee

P
age 49

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Response to Government consultation on potential changes to the current Standards regime
	04a. Appendix A Draft Consultation Response

	5 External Audit Progress Report and Council's statement of accounts 2023-24
	05a. Appendix A - Brent Letter of Representation
	05b. Appendix B - Brent Draft Audit Opinion
	05c. Appendix C - Brent Pension Fund Letter of representation
	05d. Appendix D - Brent Pension Fund Draft Audit Opinion

	6 Audit & Standards Advisory Committee Work Programme 2024-15

